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Arthur Wiknik Ir, (A, 2/503) T
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Kenneth Mafherr; 158 Avn. Bn. )

" Ed Kemen (265th n R. Co )
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Michael Anhony (2/319 Art )

Dr. |

Garmalitq Arkangel Jr ‘f(C.O

© 2/608) S
lIIIIIIIIllllI|||IIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIII| B
'J. Mighael Borland- (Btry 0, 4

Billy: Jack Fe‘rell A, 5/508) - fﬂ';

Jin Kyiesion (A, 2/501)
Julian Montville (E, 1/608)

Dean Rapds. (366 TCT

101 Abn. Div.)

riok (2/11th Arty) -

‘Brian‘Fiiégéfald:(Co‘ C':iﬁéth'Avn- Bn )ff.

4\I313f3¥35553 C?EHJ¥DIC3£ﬁ§5
- Dan Eaposito (B Btry., 2/11 Art.)

Gary Jestes

Col, Chanles Garwood

.,.‘ . B, K .,

Cobras, 77th Arti) ¢ '  )

' Col T D Rebqrtﬁ II (Asat Chief Stﬁff,.

=;20 Octobar 1987

*.255th HR membars who Were, there,

INCOMING

I served

©with the 285th RR Co., 101st; ABN AMBL)
“In I Corp. it s
f'Would like to. hQPefully hear from other

aﬂfThank Vou’.

lfzﬁ Qotqber 1987

- Ed-Kemeyp

'_‘-'-.“..,...q-g-'- L aRE - L I :

]

-1 was a Phoenix Pilot from Feb 70 - Feb
<71, During the Spring of 70 my company

- was assighed - direct * support "
vBrigade -We pulled support for 3 monthﬁ,

Cdrd

- which 'was nnusual because normally the 3
- ‘assault companies at Evans rotated “every
90 days 8o "they. could stand down - and -
-regroup.” We' got to- know the AQ around

Ripcord, O'Reillyy™

:'Tather well to say the lqast (,

JfIn Mav we logt | a oraw near Hipcord and in.

- :June, after LZ ‘Kelley,

we only had 4

-~ flyable aircrafy left, At this point we.

Twere

; released = from .direot ~ support
'~ ~although we still flew a lot of missions.
An the A0, We 'were

: j;evncuation in July.

iéctbbef}=1987:*

also

;; -ijenneth L Mavbarpy '

T L I R L

""ﬁThought 1'd drop you a lins and say a big .

- HELLO. Reop up the good work on. the
~RIPCORD REPORT, ‘1 "weally" enjoy  reading

f:%?this newsletter, |
:;;time I donated-a- little for your funda,::“--

I thought 1it's about

Bonnie D. Hill o
Vangapt,_vA R

<3)

o Pleaae add my ‘namne onto ‘your mailing list '
Yo receive the’ Ripcord: Report,

-Bradley and Jerqmﬁ 'jf{_' '

tn on the
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SIT/REP

‘Beginning with this issue of tha RIPCORD
REPORT we are giving the face sheat “a
face :1ift, We ‘would like .

- ghart

printing photos - or. art work sent in by .

you on: the eover  and - inside “the
newsletter, All original photoe will be
raturned to. yqu_un*harmed :

Mike - Miller (C,. 1/506) 135
- Washington,* IIL 61571 (309)699 2739
writes to meniion Memorial Day Spirit of
-88 Parade scheduled in Peoria.
‘interested please call, Expected to.be a
BIG EVENT, Alqo reminds us that Vietnam
Veterans of |Tllinois are planning a

Anyone.

- reunion for -
‘Mark

© ocoming peunig

#H Z IPPO l‘
69/70, Anyone
should get 1n

Thﬂ llth Airbc
has agked us

Fresno, . Califq
op March 18-2(

inyone gerving with MaJ..

Smith of 1/506" - during
wanting in on thia event
touch goon .,

rne Diviaion Aasociation

~ What a Reunion it was'

P%EEtJbJJ:C)bJ EEIEI?141£CJTFZI(DIJE5

.Reactions to it
for me occur at several levels, From the
top are things like the comfort I saw at

~the Westpark Hotel and what wag only. one

- of Chuck. and. Glenda Hawkina exoellent

Stahl.'f”

.choiges as thay
. poordinators for this years- reunion This;. -
- group could never thank them enongh: for
-their hard work ‘and dedication,
‘task was not made any easier by having to -
~follow John Mihalko and  his Whippany
. support teams’ show of last year,
“Cbuck had : clout .when
-weather that ™ descended upon

. gerved.. -onrsite

I knew
. exoallent
D.C. held
throughout out trip 40:the Wall and -gaw
most -of us on our wny home- via the two

~the.

-;airports.

- For me it wns good to see: the rapport the

to. notify you of their

n,
rnia at the Bacienda Hotel
, 3988, All Airborne men

It will- be held in .

group’ had established last year  at.

. Whippany get us right bagk together again.:

Friday evening and make it easy ' for the

.-group of new faces to get to know us. T

- atill can’t believe how much all these

are mogt. welcqme .For more info . :qontagt. .

Charles: Gunten,

2531 W,
La Habra, CA :

90631
1987 REUNIQN
Westpark Hotel,

) i

Reunion pnrtioipanta

Ray "BLACKIE" Blackman (D 2/501) ﬁ-f~'
Fred Behrens (101 AHB, Eagle Dustoff)
Jim & Ellen Fairhall (1/502)

Chuck & Glenda Hawkins (A 2/506)
John & Cathy Mihalko (E 2/508 Recon)

the Wﬁll and Wasbinaton

- Wall,

friends

guys from different units have in Qommon :

-once thay start. telking
GrayVille DP :g’.,
: The trip to: the Wall was handled by all

of us in ofir individual ways. T "had ‘to

~make my . peace privately at first-and then

~again with the group, Later I sat: on & -
park bench' and - gat in awe of- the.__
“-individual and group reactions to the

I thought of ‘how the  Wall would
look different: in various weather and.  of
how Chickenman 34 would 'have looked in
the rain composing his comsents -to- his
there. Obviously the Wall  is

' 'everything and more than we ve heard 1t

John "DOC SFEED" & Debbie Sherba (E 2/506

Reaon)
den. & Mra. Bqn Harriaon
Div )

Ddv,) .

Yad.: Jerry Hodgers (326 Med ‘Bn.
8ill Ayres (2656th Rd. Rsch Co.)
Frank & Esther Gonzales (E 2/508 Recon)-
Rande Hall (326 Med. Bn, Dustoff)

Joe & Susan Hasankulizade (A 2/506> o

Gary Jestes (HHC 3rd Bde )
Steve Wallace (B 2/506)

Al Riddle (B 2/508) '

Chip Colline (B, E 2/508 Recon)

(HQ lﬂlst Abn ;-
Jen. & Mre, Sidney B Barry (HQ‘101et Abn-:sr
e Dhsﬁoffi'

impressed with thelr-dedication,

to be..

In neeting Generale Berry and Harrieen

and hearing them speak of Ripcord 'I was
inafght *

- and compassion. I had felt for aome - time

(4)

~we faced at
.~ personally-cemented a certain pride

- based on what I had learned as we went
" -.along that the field:/ grade - officers at
~ Ripcord were exceptional,

‘. against the bagkdrop of. the "difficult’

particularly

time period and pelitical: situation that-
Ripcord: Meeting them
in
their performanoce and integrity that I
only sensed earlier, = - S

' Seeing old faces made the Reunion gpecial
for me; partiqularly - those - of Blackie;
-John and Cathy Mihalko, Dot Speed,

Poge,
Jim and Ellen Fairhall Chuck and Glenda

Thair f'i'



HaWkins, nd Fred Behrena.
Seeing new faoes wag good too

- Esther  GOonzales,  Joe: and -‘Susan

Frank and.

Hasankulizade are the sort of folks: you
feel comfortahle.around .and learn a . lot

from, Rande Hall's
. humor has been

Bill

sense of  fun and

Megtins Avras (265th Radio

missad sin@e tha reunion 3

Rogearch) again brought back memoriegs -of

a night seventeen years ago’
‘they had aent

in which
1Bil) down to my - squad - to .

~man a ‘bunkerline riddled from mostly

WIA?Bn:Thia¢oq

a night toward the end of
the Bseige w

len - we  expected  to-

get. -

overrun, I recalled a young intense man .
not, entirely pleased with prospects for
the evening but listening olesely to the

short hriefing that would hopefully help
“hip thru the Wight

Seeing Al Riddla for the first time An .

several years was as good for me as ' the

good natured drunk we pulled: on- Friday -

evening. We had had some: hellatious good
times over:.a bottle -during .stand~downs
-and in: the near. We . always “seemed ' to

velate: to tha‘orqzineaa of the ﬁituation _ :

:better then..auﬁ

‘Steve. Wallace Hho we had, not aeen since
Ripcord was: much the same . .as  ever,:

- Third Herd. Most of us feel indehted - to
" his gettting our heads straight right
before Ripoord blew up in- our fdce. Had

all platoon leaders had - Steve’s striqt,:-‘?
sense of what was operationally - correct

Be . ..
had served as. platoon. leader of Bravo s . -

the outcome of a lot of situations " over -

there might have -been = dramatically
diffepent - o TR
I have primarily  highlighted . the

‘positive parts of the reunion for me.

Obviocusly there are less positive ones

or-ones that require a more . serious
dealing with, One that easily wcomes to
mind - is the terrible’ grappling with
emotions that = 1. know overcones Chuck
Hawking on his visits to the Wall. “For
"~ me it is always the tremendous sense of

‘guilt and lods that I always'-associate
with Vietnam, neither of which I can ‘do
very much about, For ‘Al Riddle he almost

always is concerned about the families

of men who diedwho we've ‘never had time
to write, Reunions'as & rule: remind us
harshly of our un-finished business- and
emotiong, This:@ years avent was mno

(5)

“his

‘which I can only paraphrase but
particularly suited te Vietnam given its. .
context in the movie goes, "I reckon we

different and although there are these
things that get dealt with at +this more

subliminal level that doesn't “make the

Cdiffionlt, - oftenw

all died a little in that damn Wﬂr o

to help me; sort thru owr damn war, -

G, Colling

11/29/6?

. Statue shoto courtesy of
' Ray BLACKIE" Blaukman B

need for reunions angd getting together_ ‘
- any less: valid and worthwhile : B

. One of Y. favorite Clint Eaatwood movies
-+ is "The Outlaw Josey Wales", -
~about ‘a man dnawn into the’ G}Vil War “and’ -
impossihle < -
adjustment afterward, His ¢losing 11?35ﬂi
g

‘a movie

~ Reacting to that line 1'd like ‘to sayf.EI
- that I'm glad T have this group of people:'_‘
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The Hipcord Assooition buﬁinees meﬁhingfe'
ws held on 10/26/87 ﬂt the Weetppk Hetal

in Roaalyn, VA

Present, were Chuck & Glenda Hawkins, - .Al

_ The status of. ther'newsletter' oéeratibn
- was discugsed. Currently: Ghip Collins and
- Ray  "Blackie" .

Blackman :gerve: ag

. go-editors., From Blackie: the newsletter:

Riddle, Gen. Ben Harpisop, John & Debbis

Sherba, John Mihalko, Fred: Behrens, Chip
Collins,  Rande ‘Hall, Frank & Esther

Gonzaleg, Steve Wallage, Bill Ayres, gndue

_Joe & Susap Hasankulizade

IThe meeting opened with a review of the'
~Surprisingly -

goals set . last . year.
although the Association ‘did not  go

about pecruitment as it had planned.. and .- o
there were several newsletter slowdowns, .

the membership list had easily .doubled.
New membere continue to arrive monthly

: In referenoe to
apeisting in  any way

Fairhalls acoount of. . Ripcord  recent

oontact with Jim revealed a written

overyiew had been sent to Doubleday. It

was hoped that that would generate some.

interest and positive énough response
for Jim to geot down and begin:
effort toward the entire story.

gerious’

last years goal f; 
possihle Jim'

Legion -Post #1655 and its

18 sent to John Mihalko in Whippany, N.J.
where® then the "auspices of = American
oommander Doug

Barin he is able to have .the newsletter:

‘copled.. Then John. prepares the newsletter -
for mailing -using: .labels supplied “hy
.- Chuck Hawkins..

If there ever was a group
effort folke, your neweletter is it

. +John Mihalko did not; form&lly repert on
‘Association finances but contact with him -
continugs to:
-nature of Asgociation finances and at the
“time of the réunion . we were:

Andicate -the '  shoestring -
‘barely
breaking even." ‘For’

going. Apparently it
serves as a reminder to. folks that: its:
time to. halp .out, -Contributions since

last years. reunion as of the date of this
“this . is . =~

report  ‘total . $550,00, = As

" copslderably- less than that reported " at

last years meeting this can probably he

attributed - to thoﬂe ‘months - that the

. newsletter appeared only sporadically,

Much was discussed oentered around where-'

to have next years reuniqn, Frsd Behréns

reintroduced the idea of linking up- with
Nebraska
~ several
attractive reasons why doing so wouldf

‘the-101st Abn, Agsn in Omaha, .
in August 88, - He - pffered

henefit, the gnoup. _
There were 5evera1 sarious

raised inclyding our ill-fated.
-effort to do sp at FY,. Campbell .

»:conoerne .
1986+
There :

A review of Association officers was
. condugted. At the  recomendation'  of ‘the
- - group at large nChipj*GolIiheﬁ*f
~ Mihalko were te contjnus

‘wag also opneern ‘expressed @bout “the

Ripcord Aeen 's: maintaining its -
within that large group-and being - able

identity

‘respectively.

- The Assoq1atipn hae not  yeét heen’ able to -

- lncorparate as had been plenned at.- laet :
‘thig - - is -
l_eomething that ean oecur down the road

years - meeting, '~ Hopefully:

president =  apnd

The'meeting'weéfthenladdourhed;

- to easily haye 'its . own agenda within :,

that of the 1arger one‘,_e-w__

_ Reasons were proffered a8 to why Ft :

- Campbel] itself was not a good choice o
and - why now as a -group. of Vietnam
Veterans the Association would have much

more to offer including this years fogus

on?ihe_vietnam loist Vet by the Assn,

Ulfimeteiyrit was agreed that quckie'

would make contact with the Association,
whose representative lives ‘nearby,
aspess the positives of linking up and
report back 1o ‘the. group” via the
newsletter. |

f8)

Claymore
AntiPersonnel

the most part . the
‘Asgocigtion doés better financially when
‘the newsletter is

and “John
as  Association
pecretary/treapurer =~ -

L]



Ripcord”Reunion,'octoberﬁzg,.isB?'
After Dinner Speech by Gen. Sidney Berry | g,7*

. Question and answer @e$sion (Requnsas by Gen. Bgﬁpy'
and Gen, Ben HarriﬁOn) | '

L
<0

First, 1 woqld like to try to explain to gome. of . th@ wives
here what I have been unable to explain adequately to hy daugh-
ter, as I trled to today. She sald, "You're going to a Ripcord

".Association get-together?" "Ves," I tried to explain. what Ripgopd

/:'and.Pr

:is tq her, and I don't think I have succeeded Let ne try-wagain.

S It has to dp with how the United States Army fqught the. war
: ;in Vietnam,_and particularly in that summner of 1979 Lat'a 1oqk_
at the bigger picture~~1970, the nummer. :

_ ‘What was U.S. pQJicy? U $ yolicy waﬁ to. withdraw all of the‘
American armed forces from Vietnam. That policy had begun at
least ps early, I. think, as March of 1968, when then Pregident

Lyndoni B, Johngon anneunced that he wag. npt going .te run for

reelection as President. He decided that, T believewwand it has -

been well ddoumentgd-~because he’ knew that he could net be re-
glectéd because of the lei@iVBh@Sﬁ of vietnam as. an. is«ue. 8¢ he
withdrgw himself,

esident NiXDnrwbarely alected in, November Qf 1968wrtook
in Janudry of 1969. In June of. 1969w~June 8th--on Midway
in the Pacific, President Thieu. of the Republic of Vietnam
sident Dick Nixon of the United States of America. met. And
they apnounced in a press release or communlque~“which vaiously
had been written before thenwﬂthat the United States was. going to
start Withdrawal of its forces from Vietngm, which began in July
of 1969, Th@ first increment was. 25, OOO SOld;erﬁ, or armed erCEﬁf
personqel. S

'; of£ice
© Island

. At the qame tnme it was announced that what was calladwwand
L think this is a suspect termw*vietnamlzatlon was to begin. That
18, that Vietnamese armed forces were to take the . place of Amer-

'ican forces in the .combat operations in Vietnam. So, a full year
before our experience of Ripcord--which was really from March of
'70 until the  23d of July of '70=-a. full year before then, the

American policy wau,annoqnced ‘withdrawal of BAmerican forces;

;turn the ‘War over. to the . Viatnamese. That's the overall gontext
in which you and T were. uerving drqund Ripcord _

By the time that T Joined the Division on thc ad. of July of
1970-~and mOSt of you Wwere already there then"—many of you were
‘pperating in and around and on Ripcord But by the: time. I joined
the Division, the 101st Airborne Division~-the Screaming Faglep~-
wag already the last fanll American divisian ;n “Vietnam. And of

(7)



course: we had the two northern provinces ¢f. the Republic of Viet-
nam, That is, the two provinces closest to North Vietnam--the
easiest to supply for the North Vietnamese  Army, the closest to
their homeland. And that is wherg--during the spring and summer,
- of 1970--the fiercest, most prolonged ground fighting wags going
on in| Vietnam. It l1s also, by the way, where the greatest
American casualtles continued to bhe taken.-' . |

o And let me give You a figure right now for casualties~-our
- casualties  asgogiated with Ripcord. If you have ‘a formal start
‘and epd to Ripcord, the beginning is the 13th of March of 1970,
when some of yoh started to' land on one hill, but at the last
- minute -the lapding zone was changed. That was considered. to be,
~arcording to: the Division after-action report, an undesirable
“landing zone. The combat assault was made on what came to be
“known as Ripcord. And there, top, it wa& an unacceptable landing
zone, because hoth ARVN, of the 1st Division, and Screaming
Fagles landed there, and they came out on the 13th. They met too

much resistance for the force that-we had. -

~ " Then the bad weather intervened. And then~-this April Foolsg'
Day of 1970 ‘is familiar to many of you right heére. That's when we
~went back in--when you went ‘back’ in to the Ripcord area, to oper-
_@te on what came to be called Ripcord and around Ripcord until we
“withdrew on the 234 of July. - ST e e R

.Now~-with’ that as sort of the broad pers

pectiy§ﬁ~le§ me go

. back to a definition of Ripcord and a firebase,

~In Vietnam, the people live--the Vietnamese people-~live
‘along the coastal plains. Very ‘few people more than 20 miles from
fhe'cbastwapartipularly*in_Thua’ThienﬂPrO?iﬂCq;-the_dne”in_whiCh
the 101st conducted most of its operdtions. When yol went even 10
-miles from the coast, 'you 'started’ dgetting 'into the piedmont,
 Jjungle land. And ‘thén as you went in another--maybe it was one
mile, it may have been 10 miles--you started getting into moun-
~tains. Mountains that would make the Blue Ridge out here look
'like foothills, Mountains, strangely enough, that have jungle
growing ‘all over them, Triple dénOpyg'aS”we_calleg it~-thrae
‘levels of vegetation, And maybe more; some of you have sxamined--
- eonducted more close studies of that than I did. [Laughter.)

. It was in that nonpopulated area--which was up against...
ultimately against the Taotian borgder--that's where the North
Vietnamese Army--regular army troops of the North Vietnamése
Army+-established its bases. They brought down their supplies
from the north, through the trails of  Lags, hooked into South
Vietnam and into ‘olr province, established caches (as we called
-~ them) of weapons, ammunition,” put in their hospitals, their base
camps. And then, at their own good time, they would strike out.
Strike edither ‘at the American or Vietnamese forces or do their.
best'to*support“the'Vietpamese communiste that were in the pop~ .

L

(8)



Sl

© wlated area.

" Now, the North Vietnamese knew that they had to dominate the

people. And to dominate the people they had to defeat the pmer-

ican Army and the South Vieinamese Army, The South Vietnanese'

Avmy &imply did not have the mechanization, the firepower, the
helicopters, thg airgraft that the Amerjcans 'did, We hnmericans
‘hoped that the South Vietnamese Army would work with the people
to secure them, We didn't spsak the language, we ‘didn't know

their background; we really didm!t understand the Vietnamgse. We

Uthphghtiit.betgerffor“usitq-go.aut'intoﬁthe jungle; into the un- .

 populated ‘area, and do. oyr best 1o defeat the main forces of the

vegular North Vietnamese Army that were out there. - .

: How did we go? Well, in our Division we had 426 helicopters
_that provided our tactical mobility. And we had artillery., And we
had armed helicopters. We had the Aip Force, with its tremendous
fir@power,fn@t.iﬁ,QOﬂld;hrianandfdeiivﬁr*right'in=frontfof*oun
foxholes. 8o, we would seize gaks ‘'of high grouynd. By helicopter
~ we would c¢ombat-~assault, put - Qur infantry theve; by other.
_helicopters, bring in .oyr artillery pieces, put them on top of
the hill, And within the whole radius’ in which our infantry could

f B

*.Qet ﬁh%fﬁﬁppgrtingfﬁipgﬁ;gf
‘hilltops, we operated,”

the srtilleny pieces up on these

ey e
¥

k ire support/operating bases, Fire

. Those werg called fire swpport/c ‘
" suppert.:,. Thig is sort of likethe top of ‘Ripgord [polinting to

. lectern]. We gavé names to hills, Most of Vem had numbers that

there was on’ the map. Around Ripeord--and this is Ripcord [point-
. dng to legterpj--elevation, 927 meters., Multiply that by three

ahd'you'havgjfeet.‘Y@p”dg‘it;”xim.slow in . arithpetic.

. .. 8q here is Ripgord. Over here, about one and a half kilo-
‘meters away. is Hill 8o5-+~angthe¥r peak. And thgt certainly
awakens sweat on the browe of some of ‘you that were on Hill 805,
‘Over here  is-~-about how far away wds Hill 1,0007 Eight hundred

'meteps¢aA§d_h?rgﬁﬁ“BQﬁﬁﬁﬁbdut]1)599fm¢t¢rbiawaY.‘- -

7 Anyway, ybu've got” four hillg out here. We put Ripcord on
one--or we pamed it Ripcord. We put two batteries of ‘artillery--
that's six gung of 10§ millimeter apd §ix guns of ‘1656 milli-
metgpigWhy.did“wg_putl1em'théﬁe?f$o-we'can*atfack?thg{North Viet-

namese Army that's in great force avound Ripeord. o

7 Hg @6 you kdow where to attack “em? Well, you gt to find

;lemLLﬂaw'dézvou,ﬁinﬂ.*ﬁm?;Ybu sepd infantry out to find Mem. Not
“so the infantry can attagk 'ém~ﬁbec§uae?that“s“the,wquf'WﬂY”YDu,
“do i, Ideally, the infantry finds 'em and calls in the artilleyy.
“and the air strikes and the armed helicopters. = B

89 you see Ripcord is a'f;rébase”bQCaﬁsé-ybu'vé‘gbf:yOur
artillery on it to fire qut arpund the base. But it's an operat-

(9



T

“ing bhase, perhaps evern. mpre importantly Because from that base~~_l
- where you have the battalion command post (in this case of the 24
Battalion, B06th Infantry,.and B company for most of’ the time,
~providing the perimeter defense and defepding the hill)--you've,
got other companies of, the battallonr and other battaliong, that
are moving out through’ the Jungle through the mountaing attempt-
ing: to find the enemy. sg We qan bring fire onto him. 30 Jt'B an
-operating base, toq . T : :

o Remember thOSe three hills? 805, 1 000, 902? They re 5o
-close to. Ripcord that the enemy on them can put mortar fire onto
‘your own hilltop of Ripcord, and with their maqhine'guns they. can
8hoot all of the helicopters that come in and out of Ripcord And'
doﬂvthey do $hoot both their. mo;tars and: maching: guns. .

. Qn Ripcord we hav¢ perhaps. 300 .sométimes 400 people, We! vg
~ got the battalion command post, we've got ‘mgdics, we've got engi-
‘neers that continued to help us dig the emplacements and put

”thingsfqn top . of 'em to. keep mortar rounds out, to put_barbgd
wire. around~wsnades of World War One..,.; o ' :

E But~—you aak me, why did we eqtabliwh Ripcord? And now let
me- put yvou into the framemmthe thinking . of the people of the
higher command, That is, down in Saigon, at MACV, and even above-
.there. This is. the lgst full Amﬁrlcan d;visian in' Vietnam, The
uwithdrawal is. golng uteadlly on. . It!'s not long before American
forces are. going to be out,.And the higher ‘command wants thoese of
- w8 in. the 10lst. to conduct offansive operations against the North

! Vietnamese Army, Why? $o. that, ‘when our. ‘division lcaves,_we can

"~ have given the best chance possible to thg Vietnamese to eurvive
_a$ a noncpmmunist state. _

_ o And thqt's why you eqtablish Ripcord qnd yqu operate around
it, Really because that's the westernmost of our firebases and

~ operating bases-as again, we are trying to move outwmleapfrog out
~from one firebase to anether, u51ng helicopters as our’ moblllty,
going back out toward the Laptian border, through which all of

- those - North Vietnamese Army *upplaes and reinforcements are cam~
ing-; : = : ) : 3 e .

: The whole focu then, is on Ripcord as a atepplngwstone
back out toward . the Laotian border and towqu the A Shau Valley,

e Naw, foenﬂive operations—aattack the enemy~~but, nipd you,
_fdon't take many casualties. We are. ‘hearing [this] frqm Washington
and - from salgon Because-~and this is. usually unspoken, but it's
,!vary clearly communicatedmmbccau¢e,Ein thia_withdrawal phase,
Americans can't stand,. can't stomach a. 1ot of casualties, They 11l
raise questions that we who are at the givil level of government
cannot|adqquately anwwer : ,

Tat's ‘what you have to live w1th when you're at the dlvi-
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o sionf}evel. How da you attack without taking caqualtieﬁ? But

. there's a mofe basic question for those of us in that 101st Alrp-

borne Pivision. How do ygu protect yourself without attacking? If
we it passively on that coastal strip, and it we sit in our Camp
‘Evans, |[and Camp Eagle, and Phu. Bal-~if we. Ju&t ‘it there pgssive-

| Sy, wn§t the hell i1s golng to happﬂn? W@ll yau know what's goling.

tq- haqpen. They re going to eclose in,, they re. going to mortar

 You, they're going. to rogket you. and thay re gping to kill you qs :

‘you qit there 1n your baae camp->

really| matter what's going on at the national and the. interna-
;tiqngl‘level b@cause our imperatives are the same down at- the
- dlvision level. In order to exist’ gnd to liVe and tp prote¢t our-
~aelves| by God, we have got to get off of ‘our ass and go out and

take the ‘attack to the enemy. That's the way you minimize yomr

own caaualties._That's the way you completq what your couniry has
"sent yeu .there to do., That is, to give the Vi@tnamese a. better
(chance to supvive as a nqncommuniat gocaety‘ _

o So«wwithdraw American forces, attack while you re still
there, but don't take many caswalties, You hear all this, but on
[uR leVel at the 101$t Alrborne Division, we. do what we think we

'“have “to do. Which mJmply for oux survival. and pregervation of -

Xife, is to go out and continue to operate a@ aoldiers must do
}when tney re ;n a combat gqne o . o -

That's wWhy, beginn;ng with the 13th of March, you all were

m' operating in and out, uyntil the 1st of April, in the Ripcord
- ares. And you orig;nalgy were. operating against two ildentified
North Vietnamese Army regiments, and then a third. And then,

about the 7th or 8th of July, our 2d. of the 17th Cay discovered

'another regiment in the Khe. Sanh area goming toward .the Ripcord -

areg from Laos~~from North Vietnam through Laos. And that divert-
ed the. attention of ‘the Division up. there and caused a joint
'_9peratiqn qf the 101lst and lst ARVN Divigipn.

But now back to Ripcord. Beginning the st of July, which"

was two days before I joined the Division, about a weelk after the

thep brigade commapder--then Colonegl Ben Harrison--took .command
of the 34 Brigade, Two days after then Lieutenant Colonel Ed

‘Davis  took command Qf the 101st Aviation Group, which had the
bulk Qf our Divisional helicopters, o o _

On the' 18t of July, and continu;ng through the 23d of July,
the North Vietnamese Army began a sustalned drive to eliminate
Ripcord as’ a.very prickly thorn in their flesh. And asg thoge of
you who were on and around Ripcord will remember, there was fire

;rECeived on . Ripcord every day .beginning with the i1st of July,

fire directed ‘against most of the helicqpters that camé in and

sorone of ‘the realities of military life iq, it doesn't.

out of ‘Ripcord, and. mounting casualtiea. The.total casualties.

during the period 13 March and 28 July, in the_Ripcord;araa,_wﬁre-
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68 killed, 44’3""wbunded. And that includes the threo that were
‘killed, and the 20 wounded, on the 23d Gf July ‘when we withdrew
[from the hill. Sixtymeight dead,_443 wounded. - ¢ ‘

, Now...now we start: ‘doing a ‘little calculuseecost and return.
‘When does ‘it become no longer worthwhile to stay in the Ripcord
area, That's a lot of caeualtiee. For what? Well, the long'or the.
medium~term~~intermediata termmm“for what" "is “that the Division
is pulling out pretty soon., So that makes casualties which are
dear by any measure even dearer--if you know you re going to take
casualties ana. then you're pulling out : :

S On. the 15th of July T became the acting division commander'
for about the next three weeks , - becauee General Jack HennosSey—~
having been in Vietnam for over-a year with that diVlbiQn, -and
~ he'd been aon a previous tour=-ywas going baok to...., Well, he'd

‘married off one daughter to the son of the commander of the ‘82d
Alrborne Divieion. And that's the closest thosg two divieion*
have. ever been before or since.-[Laughter B And he was. . going to
move hig family to the Phillppines._

_ " 8o he left, 1eaving me with' inetructione to continue plan*
ning for the offen ive: out toward the A Shau.rshortly before he
left, that diecovery ub in the Khe Sanh area of that redgiment
.'coming down diverted our attention up there, And thenwnreaily the
~turning peint In my mind--this was three days after I ‘took acting
cammand of the Division qn the 15th~»moet of ug, many. of us 59w
zthie; I happened to be flying in the area. when I saw it, .

That early afternoon of theileth of July, a Chinook was
_feling loading in. 105mm ammunition*for the six- gun,.losmm artile.
lery batterywehOVering over “that ammunition dump, going ‘doym to
gently place those rounds of artillery on’ thé ground. The" heliw_
copter| was hit by, we think, 12.7mm machine~gun firg from one of
the neighboring hills. The" helicopter was shot down, fell on the
ampunition, burgt into flamés, .and it looked as 1f the whale top
of the| hill was about to blow off. It lopked like ; imagine_Mount
'Vﬁsuviuo looks whenever 1t erupts IO B S S

n That really wag the beginning of the end ‘of . our being on
‘Ripcord. We “lost six guns.. We lost two 106mm rocoilleee rifles
We lost a lot of qgther equipment thEre, and we lost some people
I can't remember how many were killed--can yau, Ben? T think one
member | of the Crew Was killed ~But a lot were wounded., '

o At any rate; that - raised the question should We continue
etaying on Ripoord? Remember, we lQut six of 12 guns, and we lost
the guno'that could fire closest to our infantry that were. out
arounq inthe jungle. Now there was a very guick reaction to
‘that. !The brigade oommander, then Harrison, both of us in the
air--he contacted me by radio and said, *"Wo've got to open a new
'firebare B : _
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| You may remember that Gladiator had. been oceupied befare by
the Division., Between the two of us, we agreed to place another

. _battalion undey . the command of then Colpnel Harrigon, -and he

-would. pombat*aﬁaault that batta;ion with' g battery of artillery'
ento G}adiator. Why? To give govering artillery fire,: both to. the
garrisen on Ripcord and to the companies that were maneuvering in

'~ the bush around it, And that in itself was a nice little

operation, It took what? ‘Abaut threa hours, as I tecall, £rom the:
time  that you. called me. until the time . that they secured that
‘base. Maybe four--I may- be- exaggerating But it was a very quick
‘reacti N and a nccegsary one. :

L wa, “one of you a$ked me earlier today, "Why did we bail
Qut?" ell, I'm telling you why we bajled out., And I'll tell you
that i was the hardest dﬁ¢iaion that I have made in 32 years of
military service, We all know the story of the 10l1st Airborne
‘Divisiqn at Bastogne. Over December and Christmae.of 1944, the
‘Division commander was back in the .States, The assistant division
commander, . General Tony McAulifte~~actuale, he was the division
artillery commander--was in command at Bastogne. Surrgunﬁedc}The
Germans asked h1m to gunrender. He said, "Nutq n :

: Well I had that in iy mlnd Here 1 am, actlng cqmmander of
the Diyision, the Division commander back in the States.. Welve
got a real crisis situation. And it's. not in. my - naturemwit's-not
in the hiutgry of the tradition.of the Divialon No seldier likes
to bail out, That's the toughest decision I've ever made. Well,
‘we came out on .theg 23d~~it was on the 224 that we made it. All
“ night, the 21st, Colonel Harrison then and his staff and the .
Division staff worked and developed all soptg of plans and alter-
‘natives and options to answar the queatiqn.‘"What do we 40 an-
';about Rigcord?“ ' . R : _

o And the early morning of tha zzd, We. came together. and some‘
 time during miqurning~»Ben, 4aid ypu recommend that we bail out?
T can t remamber. _ e - . : :

[Gen. Harrison: It ¢ame as a c0mplete surprise to me. I was
thinking of kicking butt and hanging on. It never even occurred
to me Yo consider a withdrawal--which is a googd lessgon for .all of
you in civilian life. You're given a set of circumstances -and -
you're agked to make a. decision, ‘In the real world, you're not
‘given the circupstances and asked to make .a décision, You have. to
decide it for yourself. And I didn't see that. I wasn‘t gven
thinking about it, but General Berry did.] o o

Well. the deciuion that I made was that the human cost of
"staylng on Ripcord was not worth whaLever petential gain there
. may be. Becauge I'd also concluded that the qffensive congept
that had been jin mind for the couple of months before.I. joined
the Division-~I d@id not think it was realistic., The more T looked
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at it—wand particularly in light of what Wwas going on around Ripw
cordwmI juet didn't think it waa realietic. ' _

. ‘But I also thought thie. Both for our “own morale. and for
capitalizing on- whatever coneternation we  pit in the enemy'e
‘minds ‘and' hearts, we did have to have an’ offensive . that Jmmedi-
ately followed our withdrawal from Ripcord And we 4id two days
“latér, We did combat-assanlt out toward Lacs, but not into the A
“Shau. We went gfter caghe areas beyond Ripcord, and we had to
‘Gpen ‘another couple of - firebaeee to get there, But'I wanted to
make sure ‘that we did not stop’ [with] that withdrawal and" have a
defensive or a turn-tajl-and-run attitude. We had to, in 0
.opinion, go into another ofteneive,'whiCh we did :

: Now~wthat 5 background Let me “Just put in a couple of
minutee and get in a coupie of generalizatione.

o We were the ‘last full divi ion in- Vietnam. Our ground action
“during that summer of 1970 was*the last real hard sustained
fighting that American forces had in: Vietnam of the magnitude and
with the’ number of uoldicre inVolved as we had

On the 2iot of July just a. day before I made the deoicion
to withdraw, the J-3° ‘or . the- Operation Officer of General Abrams
“in MACV.in Saigon came ‘Up there and vigited us. A major general,
‘What he said was this. "We hope that- the 101st can continue of~
fensive operaticne~~but don t take ‘too many casualties e . '

Let'e go back to 'the’ couple of days prior to the 2dd ‘We had

: twO aCtiQnS going on. WE had . Company, "')d Qf the 506th”’“chu0k

- "Hawkins?' company ;’ with some of you theremwout ‘ground  the fipe-
“base. And you got into sort of a running fightwmeort of like the
western wagon train, with the hostile Indians circling you. The
" brigade commander and the battalion commander and the agting di~
vision commander thought they were going to- get you out of there,
late - the afternoon of the 22d of July. We wanted to, for many
‘reasons~~both because of your own welfare, hbut also” bhgcause we
wanted you out £Q we oould focu on the withdrawal from Ripcord
;on the 23d ERE s o - L o -
SRR VI Company of the 24 of the 506th, ‘about to be combat —-ag-
saulted in' to go to the relief of A Company and Help them get
out, had g 1ot of casualties by that time. The preparatory firea
fon - the landing zone«mnapalmmweet ‘the - landing zone on fire, and
'you simply could not make the combat aepault s

So~~I'll tell you~wtherc were a lot of us that were sweating
oyt A Oompany during that night of the 228, I know that the two
immediate comminders above you--and, I'm sure, Colonel Andre
Lucas on Ripcord itself--so at least three commanders above you,
‘were doing: everything we could. We were staying up, following,
_ trying to get whatever eupporting fires you needed praying~~
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'doing everything we could for A cOmpany.h_”

~.Then that’ early morning of the 23d two octiono went_on.
,Eitbor ope’ separately would havo boen a - claooio in itself, You.
S put 'em ‘together and you've det gort of a doublé-barreled
‘package. [There was] the oombat aosault of D Gompanymwgaptain
Rallison of D Company '0f the 2d-of the, 506th~-in ‘the early
mornlng of ‘the 23d, to go to the reJlef of A Company. That took

Couptdl oarly aftornoon Anq then: [there wao] the . oxtroction by the

~hellcopters of those 300- plus men and & great. deal of equipnent
from Ripcord,. Both of tnoso oponations [wero garriod out}kunder,
firo~~ ither one a major oporation in itoelf . : o

ol pird Brigade was fortunato in hoving Bqn Horrioon as 1ts-_
‘commander at that time--one of .the Army's J}eading aviaters as
__Well ;} 2 ground soldier, And whot was ong’ of the .magt outstand-

‘ing hellicopter operatipns of the ‘war-~the helicopter ‘withdrawal,

the exkraction under fire of ‘the people from Ripcord--was led by

an aviator and 2 grognd commander comb;ned in the person of Bon o

_Harrio 0 . e . S . :

. 'A you know, that took all tho mornnng,_The Divioion lqg..
“showo hat ‘the last person’ was oxtractod from Ripcord 127 OT,IIt_

“;began about 5:404 So that’s aboutiuix hours. And every’ helioopterl-'

“that' approachod that hill was under heavy filyre, Four pad$~~fqur
_omall ino ahip pad ovor the hill,'at q4fforent olovationo.r. S

‘It's a mistako to trY to single out heroes in that type qf

i“joperagion. Everybody involVod is, And that's sort of a cheap

- word, anyway, which goldiers don't use roally But I tell you,
those -four Pathfinders' that were up on. Ripcord, playing the old
chesg game or shell dgams..,. As one hellcopter would head far, .
_say, Pad 2, the North Vietnamese with their mortars: would get_
mortar rounds. in the air timed tg land on Pad 2 at the time that
~ that helioopter got. there. And the Pathfinder at ‘the last minute
“would be- talking on the radia to the pilot, and would say, "Go to
“Pad 4." And about the time ‘that that helicopter would have ar-.
‘rived on" the pad, the mortar rounhd landed and the helloopter went
to Pad 4 and picked up ab-ut five ooldiers en tho average, and
_:fo he wont. _ R L R '

We 1ost one helicopter' in thqt operationmwanother thnook
_shot ‘dowh. on_ top of Rlpoord, and during the morning's actien

- mortar rounds. hit it and. it burnod and we lost the whole holi—
fcopter.vAmazing ' o o S _ R

The crewo of those helicopters wero anothor set of herooo of
that action, And the first persons to gay it were the infantrymen
and artillerymen and the engineers and all of the other scldiers
on top of the hill that were sure happy to see thOSe helicoptoro
come. in and get out — : , _
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‘Meanwhile over here was A Company. While Ben Harrison had
his hands full commanding the brigade and overgeeing the extrac-
tion, |and rosppnding to the agting division commander who was
_ haraso;ng him over the radio to det 1nformation...1 was doing a
lot of monitoring of the radig to get Chuck’ ‘Hawlkins  out. One
tyansmissioh that struck fear "into my heart came when Rollison
and Chuck were on the radio, and Chuck gald--or words to. this
effectp- ~-"Follow the bodies~~the trail of bediesg.” Ang I thought,
My Go,l’thooe are his men. He was’ talklng about the North Viet-
namoselArmy bodleo. ‘And T think there were 67 counted along the
way, a company D went to Company A's sugport' .

Well the log shows  that it was about 1 30 or so when A

L,7Combany wap extracted ‘and a_ little after two when D Company was -

extracted. Some would say that the. extraction of those two com~
-‘panreé'ended Ripcord ‘But you and I know differently, Ripcord
never does end., It never will be eraoed from ‘the memqrieq of ahy
.of us. That's why we'! e here.j_

I've asked ‘a lot of you, “Why are you here?" and got a lot

of answers, But it all sort of boils down to. the fact that
'Ripcord was & searing experience in the lives of everyone of us -
Anvolved. It “had. its pluSSes and ite minuses,rbut it oeared
- itself] on us and in our. lives. And it . gave us a bond of common
.exper%enge, of shared experiencowva ‘bond really of values,
emerging values, ‘that:very few other people in the world have.
‘They. don't have this particular one. Some sgoldiers and Marines

".and airmen and sailors . in other. aotions have’ o;milar bonds. But .

ours is. upiquo. Hard to. explain to our elves, much leoo to othor
“people. s , . . : S

But I want to take my hat off to all of yqu ‘that wero in~
‘volved and the ones that are not here. And. particularly, to those
of you who cameg intp the United States Army as drafteaswrdidn‘t
“volunteer for the military, qid not voluntegr for service in

'--Vietnam, would juqt as soon served somewhere else. But when you

were put wherever you were sent to do your aosigned duty,_ﬁqr,ag
:variety of motives, you d;d a damn good Job._ o

Part of it was aimply self ~preservation-~the instinot for
survival, But there were other motives, too, Pride, a sense of
 responsibi1ity,,a growing senseg of maturity withln you, .closeness
to those you were serving with ‘in your squad, or yqur platoon, or
your crew. Anhd one thing I'll emphasize you and all of your
fellow soldiers who served in our Division, and with our Divi-
. sion, in and around Ripoord—~you should be extremely proud: of
1”yourselVog. For what you gave, for what’ you did, and for what you
took away and tho way . thdt you gnd T~ grew together thore.

_And I think—~1‘m convinoed that our country, our people are

stronger than ever before, because. yon have gone bhagk--you'vye
gene to your printing plant, your body shops, your engineering
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- joba and all Qf the other joba you had-wyou have. taken your ex-
_periencge. and your contribution to our country and your service to
Qur. country and put it bagk into the body politic. And the Amer-

. ican people are ﬁtrmnger becauge ef yqur prasence.-And I thank
_You for that._g . i : _ D .

[Applause ]

L o et Yy
L [IntrOduction by Ghuck ﬂ@Wking“tp queation anﬁ_gnswﬁr-
session ] o _ _-, ) . T

_ [Jim Pairhall] My . question haq to deo with OperatiOn
-_chicago Peak, which was what Ripcord wag - 1aading up. to. What was
. the original cancept. of Operation Chilcago. Peak, and how . was it
'achangﬁd by the actions that occyrred . around Ripcprd? _

[Gen Harriwon] We had developed a plan that would nave

‘“”‘us'to the east high ground of the A Shau Valley, and Ripcord was

part of that., Oyr next move was to go further, The overall mis-
slon was, ag General Berry touched. on, to prevent yet another
Tet, to give more time to the Vietnamese to get stronger, and for
us to take the pressure off of the bulld-up in the area. And we
went out to--wag it Barnett was. the firebase that the 1lst ARVN
~was occupying at! the. time?~-and-we were .gonna take one parallel
" to that, We.pever got out that far. But the overall object was to
. get. an offen31ve position on the high ground, near the A Shau,
. where we: could interdict this build ~up that was taking place.

- f:Q. [Jim Falrhall] Was it ever intended to send 101st Amrm
qbornq troops into the A Shau @uring that ‘hot @eascn? .

_ A. [Gen 'Harrison] There may have baen a plan to do that,
- but our reading ef what the hlgh command. would stand. for,.I don't
think there. ever wounld have been an offensive by American troops
in the A Shau again. The A Shau was Jjust too risky, and there was
no. way you could oPerate 1n there without tqking uubstantial
'casualtles. L . . _ _

Q. [Chuck Hawkins] A question fhat;l'd iike'to_pbse..We
- never seemed to deal at our level with intelligence that was mare
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-than what we' gatnered ourselves. Occaoionally you'd get - something
down 1Lat had to do ‘with ‘something that either happened. a long
go or was gketchy  at’ best. Be- that as- It may; ‘we had a
rmiaSi?n or an .intention) out -at “the rim-of the A Shau. Did we
“know, |did we understand what the. enemy really intended? Did we
have a sens¢- that they wgre trying to penetrate to. the lowlands,
or did they simply want to embarrags seme American or Vietnamese
units? And, by way of ‘answering that  questijon...becausé there
~Rere so many new commanders...how much overlap and reading in on
~ the situation did you guys have? How much of a comfort. factor for
_ tha months that had. gong before did you feel you gained? '

7 ,A.-[Gen. Harrison] I think we had a fair perapective of
_where ouy high command wanted us to go. And we had very tangible
‘evidence and good intelligence that a build-up was ooming You
'know, we were seeing more and more modern. weapone., We were seeling
more and more regular troops, And I recounted this afternoon my
Antroduction to the 120 mortar bétween my feet. And that was a
new level of the war. And Just all along there was an obvious
build~up of regular troops caming in. I think we had one VC regi-
ment of ‘the four regiments that were surrounding Ripcord the
others were regulars, e '

3 " [Gen, Berry) I‘m going to emphaeize the other aspeot Ben. I
think, yes, their lopg-range aim was to ‘get to" the" lowlands and
~the population. But I think they absolutely intended to eliminate
the Americans on and arbund Ripecord. It ‘seems to me that the
whole focus of their gathering at Ripcord is the hole in. the
~doughnut. And 1f they hagd- ‘been able: to eliminate an American unit

W tE@nd eeize that - firebasg, I thinknwand this ig' my: guess tog-~T

think they thought that would have speeded the ‘disillusionment of
- the American people ‘and  American members of Congress with our
: being in Vietnam, and: would ‘have led to a. etronger demand that we
-come out mere gquickly. But:- again, we both are recognizing that as .
“a long-range aim, as always,’ they looked at control of the coun-
- try and its people. ‘But T think elimination of Ripcord and the
-peopla on and around it was one of their intermediate eteps.

[Gen‘ Harrioon} 1 would agree. Just again, my uhortcoming ‘in
not thinking strategically at the time. Bgcauge it néver entered
my ming' that we:would ever loseg Ripeord:in a ground" attack. We
had ground ‘attacks out there the ‘last filve nights before we
closed down, and on 806 I don't know how many uucces ive nights

. of ground- attacka, that we were able to beat bacl, -

o That ‘was when I noved out. there- personally to try and help
- Andre ‘with: the: Gorps artillery and partieularly the Air Force, .
- because” there waes always '8 problem' of convincing the great Air
" Force flare ships and gun ships and fighteraﬂwwhateverewthat they
could come in while the artillery was still shooting “And T
thought T could . speak their language gs an aviator, and I could
~ shout ' Jouder . over the radio as"a. colonel than Andre icould, and
that'!s where I saw my job. That's ‘why I epent the last five
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_--nightﬂ 6n Ripoord myself. doing Just that sort of thing, and
" going to bed walting fey the attack that we knew was going to

. come. And so I was jhvglved ip . the fight, ax;d not think;lng a8
o strateglcally as, General Berry WA . .

: You . probably all w@ll continue. to think, Did we get Qui at

the right time? And that's all right. I would just advise you to
.includ in that eqguation what happened :in 1968 at Khe Sanh when
'the Mqrines decided. theY were. dgoing. to. tongh -1t out. And. they

. were.. Bp surrounded and taking - such a; beating that they -couldn't .
- even sgnd out patrols, They didn't have flve companjes out. there

giving| them a little he}p..They were all in one hole in Khe Sanh
;Mand they were battered and they were beaten and they took. horriw,'
,ble\qqsualties. Got & Presidential Unit Cltation for stupidity
when tpey were there, And it got so bad . that there was ho. way
they could get out. And the 1st Cavalry Divisien had to go wup
- thers [and bail them out, Well, that wag never genna happen at
- Ripcord. ar anyplace elee in the 101$t., i 4

Qb [Jim Fairhall] I have a question frqm my perepective as a

- grunt !'ip, another battglion. I.was. in the 1st- of the five-oh-

deuce; | we were operating-in. the. Rocket. Belt, We were .not. hittlng

- yvery. much contact at all during. June. and July. Not. that L'm vol~
B nteering mYﬁelf retroepectlvely, but why were we not. moved in to
. reinfo;ce the 2/506th and the 24 Qf the 501st around Ripcqyd and
LAn th@ Ripcard AQ? : e sy

lgen. Berry] ‘The reason that  the Phu Bal battalj,on was
‘not . moved inta the Ripgqrd area. wag. becauee you had a very im-
portant miesion. You wepe working with--I believe it was the B54th

- Regiment’ you were working . with--in ‘gort of clgse-in operations -

aroung - the populated arga, And. if we'd picked you up and moved
© you eut, -a vacuum would have . existed that the: North Vietnemeee
',Army or - tha Vietcong wwu;d have, fillcd e L

Q [Jlm Fairhall] Do you thlnk they would have filled it
that quickly 1f, say, we were moved out for a week te help out in
*;tha Ripcerd 207 , o S , _ _

: [Gen. Berry] Probably not in a week, But you 'see; even
fthat would be a .gain .on-the part of the North Vietnamese Army

- around Ripcord. They would have.caused us to pull you. out- of an

grea to-put into the.Ripgord anga--and frankly, 3f you've: already
-made the decision that | it's not worthwhile to. stay in the Ripcord
area hecause of the eaeualties you're, taking, and because.of the

" limited potentlal gain there, there's. no need to throw other

forcee in- there and to QREN-Up - vacuum uomewhere else

[Gen. Harriuon] I‘d 1ike o make 3 comment that may help to
give you some perspective on what was going on a couple of layers
':above that triple-canopy jungle. What -was on the ground around
Ripcorgd: represented about 10 to 12%. of the Division's strength--
fighting etrength And when t;me camg to withdraw from Ripcord,
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we. had involved in that operation the entire Air Cavalry Squad- . -

“ron, the entire Aerial Rocket Artillery, the entire artillery :of

'-Corpe that could reach that, and we had the éntire 34 ‘Marine Air

Wing--which is a two-star command (and thé commander came up and

'pereonally ooordinated it)-~and they had on gall: the Navy and Air

Force.'
So there wae Just tremendoﬁs activity going on.’ Qn the

~'ground it's impossible for you to- 'get that kind of perspective.
CBut it was a massive coordination of literally thousande of" peo-

ple concentrating on that one: fight for sin hours.

ﬂ;_: Qi [Jim Fairhall] Is it true’ ‘on: the 23d that other divi ions
were. dn a state of readiness tag eend help to the 101st? This io

CJust a rumor I've heard..

‘~r“A. [Gen. Harrison] I wonld'oee no'reasoﬁﬁfor that to ever
happen. Because as you Jjust pginted: out, we  had foroeslin the

101st Ehat were available.

[Gen. Berry] Let me make one additional point No, I think

the ansWer is ‘no to that,, because other diViaions were drawing

down’ and were oocupied eluewhere. Oneg thing that pleased me very

“muach; po senlor commander--senior. to memwsought to.direct or even

influepce my decision. And once I had made the dedis jon, not a
single commander . above me did anything other than say, 'We think
you made the right decision " There was no ¢riticiem, therge was

‘no second~guessing. As a matter of fact, when I was feeling pret-

ty loqely and trying to make the decision,_I would ‘have appreci*_

-ated & little help. But really, ‘IT'm glad that they left me on’my

. ‘own, because this is within the tradition of the Army~~and its

best traditionw~that you  leave the commander " that iz on the

ground: free to see things his: own way and make his own deois:on

And then you support him- from the next higher headquartere. And.
that happened in our case. As General Harrison said, the entire

Sd Marine Air Wing wao there to help, and we appreoiated it

[Gen. Harrison] As a postsoript to be&ing on your own, thet'

‘afteynoon, on the 238d, I got a message from Division headquart-
“ere that I was going to have some independent operations, And
that was ‘going to ogcur at 11 o'clock, on the 24th, when I would

brief the press on what happened. [Laughter.] I 'was less than
pleaged 'to 'be alone. And I got the count that there would be-~as

‘of that ' afternoon-~=-23 Trepresentatives of different’ newo media

that would be at Camp Evans for a prese briefing at 11 o clock

Q. [John Mihalko] T have a queetion ‘about the wire’ “tap, .
We sat on that wire for three daye, tapping it Wene you aware of

_thot?

[Gen. Harrison (responding under the impre sion that John
is referring ‘to the July 21 wire tap rather than Recon's tap of

the same wire beginning on the 30th of June)] Oh, yes, absolute-
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ly. That's when we started evolving the offensive plan of what it
would take to 'capitalize on the concentration...this was concrete
evidence that they were there. And this is when, 1 gueés, General
Berry ‘came to the realization that it would be a- masaive opera~
tion, The plan that I developed ¢alled for: six’ battalione....

.~ You know, we were thrilled, ‘excited, but then we etarted
- worrying about you guys etaying alive and getting out"4"

. [Gen. Berry] You gave us' the first 1nformation we had for
sure that there was 'a division headquarters in theé area. And that

- put & n&w dimension to the whole thing, So, yes, we vwere vepy

”much aware oﬁ what you Were deing and Iollowing it very cloeely

: [Gen Harrieon] Gen., Berry and I would switch to the company-
freqe to llsten to those reporte.‘ . _

= [John Milhelko] But we found. the game ‘wire three weeks
“earlier. But you didn't know that We'd alreody found that wire ‘

[General Harri on] That was not the sane headquarters.
[Gen Berry] Oh you aaid the 30th of June, dldn't you? :

DGen. Harrleon] That was -not a diviszon headquartere. The
llne thet Ghuok found that was the ev;dence of the: d:!.vie:u:an.__=

[John Mihalko] My only queetion ‘was, Why wasn't eomethlng
more’ done with that wiro in between tho time we found it and when-
-_chuck aiar -

]

[Gen..Harrieon] I don't knpw. |

[John Sherba (Doc Speed)] How many North Vietnamese were
uaround Ripcord? :

‘ [Gen- Harrieon] I'm not eure, Doc. What was - the lategt.
_ eetimate of how many NVA and VG were around there at the time? a ‘

[Gen. Berry] There ‘were' for sure three, and probably four
regimepte, and we don't know the strengths of those regiments. So
~what would vyou round off a VU regiment? About three thousand, I
- think.| So let's say there were nine to 12 thousand. I think thoee
) approx#matione are about ‘right.. Would you guesg mpre? ‘

[Doc Speed] I dldn't=eount that many [Laughter 1

_‘.~Q [ Tdm- Fe;rhall] I have ‘a couple- of queption if we have
time, _o direct to General Harrisen. The first gne- I'm asking you
peceuse of your - aviatlon background. Was the evacnation of Rip~
cord on July 23 the largest all-American helicopter evacuation
under ire of the Vietnam War?
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: : [Gen Harrison]:Well, when you say evacuation.... The
_1argest operation, though, wouldn't be anywhere near that. There
- werea- tremendous numbers -of Division asesets there, but. the number
of  troops moved was conaiderably less. than- . lots of other: opera-
tions. You:wouldn't. get ‘any argument - from me and . probably .a. lot’
_of other people if yon' said it. ‘wag - the most. intense operation,
“and’ probably thg . best supported by the alr--Marines,. Alr Force,

and Navy, and aerial recket artillery, Ailr Cavalry.,.. It was:

probably. the best. supported operation.pf the: entire:war in my

-~ personal knmwledge. I conducted: an -air. asﬂault -one time when I
had 92 -aiycraft in the alr. at one time, That was: more than. we
ever had in the air at One time there. But no one was ahqoting at
- us, happily : _

S Q. [Jim Fairhall] My seconq question ha to- do with the at-
titudes of the journalists whom you had to deal with on July 23,
_Were there Journalists who felt that they should have been in on
the Ripcord. operation from the beginning, -and: that they were just
finding out about something big after the fact? Or were they Just
-generally curious? : 0

Ay [Gen. Harrlson] They were generally respectful .and cour-
teous. It was not the possible unpleasant exercise that T thought
1 might have. They were patient and understanding in asking ques-

tions. There were a few, including the young: guy who' Jblew the

whistle at My Lai~~I can't recall his- name--he got out and became

oa correqpondent. ‘He asked.a lot of- questions ‘and rstayed on with

us. fop a-week, bhecause his goncern was, and others’! concerns
‘were, How many Americang did you 1eave out there? Are you sune
- everyoTe i out? . _

[Gen. Berry] Incmdentally, on that one, let nie say that
-Golonel. Harrison then. and I were. very conecious of .not leaving
anybody or a body or anything elee, ‘Then Coleonel Harrison made
- lowrleyel sweeps around the hil)l after we had everyhody' reported

- .off. The Cav did. I made & slightly higher level ‘sweegp around the

hill than Ben Harrison,K did. And as soon-as the units went . of =
~and some of you will remember this--we took muster as you got
back tp. camp. We wanted to be absolutely. certain that We had all
~.of our people dead or alive. And we did.. e SR
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Into the Maelstrom
bv J01m Mihalko

The month of March 1)70 was., rapidly drawing to a close, Aa 1 wrote in
"The Ides of March," there was an uneasiness in the alr, The rain snd the
mad tested qur patience. Luckiyy our ‘team mede ne contect in March,except
'for the fallen tree that made casualties out; of Junior and meQ. R

I HﬁB enjoyin& what was left of my Mghost timﬁ" dn- the :rear, but the
spectre of the future was ever present in my mind. I believe 1t was Dpc Speed- I
who took me to Cemp Eagle to get my eyes checked- out. My vision still wasn't '
20/20,. but 1% was good -enough 1o go back out to th@ field, Oh well, all 5ood
tnings must. come 0 an ends - - ; ‘

March Slat found our whple Recon platoon back at Evans. That didn't
'-happen too often. Usually owr missions would overlap but s change was coming

to-Recon, I was gulte proud of our platoon. We had the right blend of aeason~ i'
ed veteranﬂ and. Lhe new guys seemed to iit in real well.- e )

We were a diverae group of personalities and accents that worked well to~
gether, We were rowdy in the rear and. gilent. in the field. Most of us had
tasted gombat already, We were good and. "Teenager," our platoon leader was
proud of ug v . _ o _ Gl

The change Lhat camg to. Regon wag a new platoon leader. We wbre going tp
miss "Teerager," His sge -and youbhful ‘appearance belled the true nature of « -
the man,,HB was utterly fearless and our-body -count under him was gecond to
nong. He was the ‘gulding. prce behind "Tne St. Valentine § Day Masbacree“ (see~ :
1ssue #lO-Jano 1987) ot _

Qur new platoon leader was Lt wxlsqn. I always dreaded new platoon—-
leaders., I3 he golng to be gung ho? Does he have his shit together? I never did

- -get the anawers to those guestions. Lt, Wilgon 8 tpur of duty would come: to an

“abrupt end in approximately hE hours.

, April Tools Day rolled in. Little did We know that the Joke was on ug. Here
my wmemory draws a blank, I don't remember if our platoon was scheduled to be ine
serted on Ripcord or tbe cventa of the day necessitated us to be thrown into tbe
breech,.u o : . , . :

Tha reports coming in were not good All hell was breaking loose on Rlpcord -
The troops on Ripcord were teking a pounding from mowters, R.P.G.'s, small axms, .
- the whole nine yards the N.V.A. had to foer. The Gooks that we couldri't i‘ind
in March were sure 1n abundance noW +

3 ‘

April Foqlts Day had arrived, bu@ none af us: Were laughing, ‘The Maelstrom
WAS upon gs and it was about to auck us. in. Word came down to saddle up. We were
bound ‘for|Ripcord, Now. I knew.how Broeklyn. Dodger rans felt in 1951 when Bobby,
Thompson lnii, the shot heard round the world,

_We”heaaed out to the pad: in stunned silenceJ deep 1n thought ponderlng
our fate.|The situation was getting worse. Reinforcements were having g hard time
getting into Ripcord. Our choppers weve delayed, The casualtles were mountlng.
The Qooks shwwed no sign of letting up their attack.
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The hours_dragGGd by. We were'told to hangz loose and wait. We'd he sent
out as soon as the hirds were gvailebles Qur part in this operation Just -did.-~
n't make eny sense to me. There was no wagy that the Recon platoon was going

to be able to Lip the scales of battle in our favor,

The Recon platoon had heen effegtive in the past because of the way we
were employed. Our small teams gave us the luxury of-eruising through the-
Jungle @s silently a@s our elusive enemy, The element of surprise was usual-
1y on qur gide and. our ambushes were swift and deadly. Hit snd run was our

Thé'siiuation looked. dim to;éay tne'1eastn We wouldn't he throwing the:

first punch and there sure as hell wasn't going to be any element of sut- - -

prise. We didn't have the firepower of a line platoon, Hell, I don't think -
~ we had more ‘than two over and unders in gur whole platoon, -John Wayning it

- seemeq like suicide to me. .

Our birds finally arrived and we hod enother wait while they were re-
- fueled and their crews were briefed, The reports from Ripcord were not get-
. ting any better. Not only were the casuslties mounting, but a few slicks -
- hed gone- down during the course: of the day. s scared bs I was, I didn't

- I wondered what theilr feelings vwere.

envy the helicopter crews who had to go'out to Ripcopd time .and time sgsin.

.-_We[finally.got the word %o board. We had béen.waiting-at-theVﬁad'most

of the morning, It was now some time in the afternoon. That's s long time to -

wait and have sll your innermost fears work their .way to thé “forefront of

your brain end wreek havoe with your nerves. There wag no thumbs up sign

between the teams as we boarded our slicks. I was gripped with the fear of
impending doom, - _ . '

-webgmer describég.feﬁr ag an unpleﬁsant oftén_étrbng'emotion caused by

-anticipation or awareness of danger, That's a pretty sanitized description of .
the word, but then again, WYebster never hoerded a slick on April lat, with =

his destination being Ripcord. If he had, I think his definition of the word

,.Théféyhonymﬁ of the word feartﬁré'not:much help either, Dread,'ffight,_

.

alarm, penic and trepidation do not deseribe what I felt in wmy brain and the - °

- Pt of my stomach as our slick lifted off the pad ang headed: out to Ripeord, .

- Not. a word was spoken as we passed over the lowlands and rocket ridge. ~
Were we headed for glory or:doom? Only the men upgtairs knew for. sure andg I
~#pent some time making my pesce with him. There's a line from one of my fa~
vorite movies that goes: "The gregter the odds, the greater the glory," but
on April Fool's Day, I didn't like the odds, ~ . - - .o

. We srrived -on gtation and began circling;*I-ﬂbtic@d:we*Were-flying_much'f':

higher than usual. As our slick banked .into a turn I looked down. The trees

and_the'mbuntains looked very tiny from the altitude we were Tlying, We cir- -
¢cled for what seemed like:an eternity, The insertion must not have been going.

well cause we kept circlipg,

B R : . ’ ]
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_ ; IS - N _ ced down. d got my first -
Durfing one of the banks and turns I glanced doyp and '
glinpse 0f Ripoord. Tt sure 8 hell 4i4n't Look Like muoh. From pur al¢i-

- bude it looked yery small and yulnerable; Just arbald mountain PQD~SU¥~_ R P

rounded ?y the lush, green jungle. I didn't like it ot all.
e ! | titude and on close e % looked bigger but
e fowered our altitude gnd on -cleser inspection it loo a -
_it'digﬁn$look'dny better. I could see incoming mopter younds lmpacting on
the hill end I elso saw a downed slick that mede for ﬁ sickly sigh?w W‘fkep#“
On'circlgng_and finally the door gunnep shouted out, ,Wﬁ’rgsgoing-ln,iggb :

il s e o - I slvways w .deredi

fils words started the gdrenalin to work overtime. I always won rortlv.
wist & hot L.z, was Like, It looked like I wes golng to find qut very shortly. -
T vas like 8 coiled spring resdy to go, We stqrtQQ dﬁscending and‘madeiour
gppyoach, . . 0 T EER R “

. Bipcord wes looming phead gebting closer snd bigger with each passing
second, Our door gunner shouted out that ve were taeking fire end he eppeared
to be leughing as he opened up with his 60, My mind wap vracing faster than
_the speed of light, . S S T o

- "What kind of fire," I thought to myself. Small arms, machine gung, .
rogkets or whattfThe'noiae'waSVdeafening; Cobras were working out, our door~_.
gunners were firing, and the mopter rounds were impagting on the hill, T did--
n't see how we would ever'mghe];t;in,‘,;. R T TIE R o >

0w door gunner had to be the most gung-ho person in the Army or else
he was operating with o crank case thet wes one quart low. With death poised
ready to strike he shouted out, "Ien't this neat?" I wisbed I could gteal a
- drink oub of the bottle of courage he hed to be using, . - S

.~ ¥ham, wham, .wham, The mqrtér::OMHQS;Came in like.a hail of rain. The land.

. scape ahead -of us was belng spewed up to the sky, Our slick was quivering and
shaking and we were 8till heading in. We were still too high to Jump. Cloger and

-closer. Time seemed to-stand_stiLl.. L _ . : : : R _

;Ahother'barrage*caMé_iﬁ and‘this time 6ﬁi;slick pulledfup.and away, galning
altitude snd distance, Ag I glanced down and behind T saw another barrage dmpact
~Just ebout where we would have hovered. Ap iecy chill ran wp my spine, S

We re-gained our altitude and aweited our turn to try agein. I didn't see’
how any slick was going to make 1t. Dodging mqrtar rounds willl eateh up with
yOu gooner or later, Evidently some of the slicks were getting in between the
barrages, Qur turn was coming up once again, : -

. Qur second attempt was an instant replay. of the 'first. On our third attempt -
we didn't even get as close as the first two, I don't remember how meny times we -
- tried. My brain was numb by this time, Through 4t all our gutsy door'gunner was

- keepdng ue informed. : T . o -

for what seemed like and-eternity, Finally our door gunner shouted out, "Wetre. -
headlng back to Bveng." I think we- all breathed a sich of relief, It was short-
lived however. Hig next words were, "We're going to refuel and try again," He gaid
1t nonchalantly, like it was all in a day's work, PR RN ,

1 \ ) . +

We.circled\and'cifcled'but madq.ho mora'éttempfs-to get in. We had been:flying
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: "You can't be gserious," I thought to myself. "You can't put us through
that agein.” My spirits sunk fagter then the stock market crash of 29, I

was emotionally drained and felt like I had aged gbout ten years gince morning.
We got back to' Evans, dropped our rucks, and took @ quick_head count,, -

It looked like only about half of Recon made it into Ripcord.’l-don't___
think anmy complete team made it in. Part of our team mede 1t but what good ‘
were they without‘a-point‘man,»team_leader,-or'r.t;o,? It didn't ook good,
I hoped everyone wag safe and sound, but I sure wasn't looking forward to

another ¢.a. that day.

.. It yas probably very late in the efternoon when we got the word that our
cQé;-waa;cancelleda-We were relieved of course,” but what about our buddies that -
made'itl;n?dA.lot of us hung around the toe which was buzzing with activity, -
The repo'ts.weren't_getting'any;betterj'There were many cesuslties on Ripeord
and the fighting was intense. ' ' = o S

-1 guess we were all stunned by ‘the events of the day, This was no little
. Pirefight. This was a big time, heavy duty battle, A Life ‘and death struggle . -
between our Batallion and the largest enemy force the 10lsts had seen in many
moons . The mountains were alive once agein with the sounds and ‘the fury of

total waxy, ' . - : ; ' ‘ : _

_ P o . : _ o o TR
_ Whaﬁ.I remember most is the feeling of gloom andicdnqern,_not.only;for.my-‘_
teammates, but for everyone that was on Ripeord on thpt fateful April Fool's-
Day, 1970, There was no partying in our hooch' that night. The sllenge broken
only by reports of the battle that was 9till ragingﬂ;ntq‘thaunight.

My thoughts were on Doc Speed most of all. He must be one busy son of a gun
- out there, I hoped he was oksy and prayed for his safety, T wondered who are -
¢asualties were., Many things went through my mind that night, I 'don't know who
brought us the news. of .our casualties which'included-one'fatglity, Lt, Wilson
--who was blown away. at ¢lose renge LY 8N .r.p.g. ' . S S

We also got word thet Recon was linked up wifh'Alpha'Companya That wes
good news to hear, There was safety in nupbers, so I hoped. April 2nd. g Just

a b;qr in=my'memory,gThe-battle was still'raging-and_the casualtles were moun -
ting. Something had to give, = . - ' C S

: On April 3rd. we got the news that Ripecord was going to be evacuated. I
hoped 1t would be & success and wondered how our guys were7dQ1ng,wFinaIly, word
came down thet Recon was coming in. My spirits soared as we went oul to meet .

our teammeteg, C o i i

Sure enough, they were making their way to our compeny area.: I noticed Doc-
‘Speed right away. He looked like death=warmediover, but he wes a sight for sare
eyes. He dian't have to tell me what he -had veen throygh. His.eyesrand'fatigues
told the gtory before.a word was spoken between us, . ' S

. . . L4

He looked like he head been tﬁrough a meat grinder, His fatigues were . in-
tatters covered with blood; some of it his, 8 lot of 1t Trom others. His legs
were oxposed from his thighs to his knees which were still dripping blood that

- he dddn't seem to nptice,

I told Speed that T was sure glad to see him and he told me that he was
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gled to éee3anyb0dy besides Gooks, As he tended to his knees and changed into
someﬁdlean]fatiguesi he told of the battle., Ripgprd'Wag-g:b;pch_and‘the‘quks
seemed to be everywhere. It was - & rough thrée'days, E¢ was glad:tp‘be_gl;ve as
were all the survivors. - - Cote c S _

The events of the April Fodl's Day Assault shook me up as it probebly did.
* the rést of the Batallion. The re-enlistment sergeent wes doing a brisk bysis .
-ness for awhile. I couldn't bleme anybody for re-upping to get out of the

field, but it seemed like & ateep price to pay, A-lot of guys were 'short timers"

and T guess April Fool's Day wes the bitterest Jdkb of‘the;§ wnélg'tggr:1: 

©- 1 was now certain the Ripcord a.0. was going o be .our’ home for a long -
time to come. I also learned that there were a hell of.a lot Qf:ﬂbaq Ggys“ out
do 80, SRR BEE R y e a ) | o |

The events algo left me with a bitter_taste in_my‘mouth, For the first tine
I questioned decisions im my mind, mode by others, that I had no control over..
T couldn't figure out why Recon wag sent in in the first place, The battle was
‘raging for hours before we got the word to seddle up, I definitely didn't like
the ldea of being used like a Line platoon without the firepoyer, .

Only about half of our platoon got in and with only partisl teams, there,
was a lot of confusion on the ground. Recon fought as well ag it could undern.
the c¢ircumstances, but ss far as we werq}comcerned 1t_was”g;mismatch,‘We Wére:

very foptunate to have only one Kelea,

_ T also camg to reallze that being good was not enough to survive, Luck and
‘fate had a big say in the matter. Like everyone elae, I vaes Just’ a pewn on the
chegssboard end’ our chessboard was Ripcoerd. Till next time, . - . . .

'EPILOGUE:

I am blessed with a very good memory. April Fool's Day, like most of my
- tour is entremched in my memory banks forever, I am‘also very fortunate in
having most of the letters I wrote home while gerving my tour. What follows are

~ excerpts from a letter to my slster-dated 14 April, 1970. ~

© Dear large, | | L
© . Hi. T just thought I'd let you - knpir thet I'w still hanging. in-there. I
-really enjoyed iy little vacation in.the rear. I wish I could have hurt my
head more, then I'd &till be in the rear. Oh well, what can I say?

I W.i‘sl'l‘_I could report; that 'bhinfl_z;s are okay out here_, bu’@"'it:"ii -hOtro"'O.Ll'l" .
Batallion is trying to establish g firebase near the Ashau Valley. The Flrebase
is called Ripcord and it's coat us mapy lives already. Maybe it made the news. .

bagk home, -

_ about 30 wounded, The Gooks did us a Job.uith_mbitﬁrs,fwe even lost two. chopw
pers trying to get the dead and wounded out s - e

Anywéy; bur'Alpha Compeny wag out thers and-they lost 11 men killédtand

' Our'Rech platoon was scheduled to go out there‘and the déj wé.tried‘tg
-get i, the*GOoksrstarted"pounding the firebase with mprtars, rockets, and -
small armg fire, - R .
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I wes never 80 s¢ared in my life. There I was sibtlng in @ chopper
elreling around ‘the flrebase, wabchin& mortar rounds. tesar the plﬂce up, Qur
chopper never did meke it in, Tt was suicide trying to lagd there. Aoout one
half of Recon did get in uhouﬂh, but I wigh they hadn't. SR

WG took elght casualties. Our biapd new platoon leader got killed and
seven of my buddieﬁ took shrapnel All of them are. going to e okay, thank
God.. ‘ , : . R ceno

 Right now my teqm is about 8 mlle away from Ripcord I can honeatly qay
that thiy 18 my worst mission so far, We've been out here for seven dnys and
wo've made contact fqur times already. e o , :

In ‘one of our firefi?hth we captured a machine gun and five r.p go round3:”
which we blew 1in. place. I'll send you g picture of the machine gun. So far my -
Juck . has held out, prettj dood buL 1 W1sh I was n't out in thege mountajneu

We were pupPOSod to go back to Evans taday but Lhere 5 been &8 change in-
plens and we'll be ouL here for another waek. Qh well, another week won't
_kill me, I hope, . : L : : :

The weather out here i8 sure crazy. Two days ago we almost had Lhree cages"'
~ of heat stroke. Last. nlvht it got real w;ndy and started Lo rain. T frOZe my
ass off last night. . . C

Well, T gueas I! ll c]ose for now. Tdke care and don't worry. Itm stlll
hanging in there.. o _

B £ T '
| - M-148
. (M-16/M-78)
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